



DTIC FILE COPY



AFGL-TR-88-0098

PRELIMINARY EVALUATIONS OF THE USE OF A 35 GHz RADAR FOR MEASURING CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS

AD-A199 133

Kumud R. Biswas and Peter V. Hobbs Department of Atmospheric Sciences University of Washington Seattle, WA 98195 USA

06 June 1988

Final Report 1986 August 1 through 1987 December 31

Approved for Public Release; Distribution Unlimited

Prepared for AIR FORCE GEOPHYSICS LABORATORY AIR FORCE SYSTEMS COMMAND UNITED STATES AIR FORCE HANSCOM AIR FORCE BASE, MASSACHUSETTS 01731-5000



Q Q

Original contains color plates: All DTIC reproductions will be in black and vbite "This Technical report has been reviewed and is approved for publication"

- A Albert Snow

H. ALBERT BROWN Contract Manager

£.

Branch Chief

FOR THE COMMANDER

Alexan z-1 (1.

ROBERT A. MCCLATCHEY, Director Atmospheric Sciences Division

This report has been reviewed by the ESD Public Affairs Office (PA) and is releasable to the National Technical Information Service (NTIS).

Qualified requestors may obtain additional copies from the Defense Technical Information Center. All others should apply to the National Technical Information Service.

If your address has changed, or if you wish to be removed from the mailing list, or if the addressee is no longer employed by your organization, please notify AFGL/DAA, Hanscom AFB, MA 01731. This will assist us in maintaining a current mailing list.

Do not return copies of this report unless contractual obligations or notices on a specific document requires that it be returned. INCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE

ADA199133

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
1a REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION		16 RESTRICTIVE	MARKINGS		
DICTOSSITIES			AVAL ADU TY OF		
20 SECONT CLASSINGATION AUTHORIT		Approved f	or public r	elease:	
20 DECLASSIFICATION - DOWNGRADING SCHEDU	LE	distributi	on unlimite	d,	
4 PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	R(S)	5 MONITORING	ORGANIZATION RE	PORT NUMB	ER(S)
Contribution from the Cloud an	d Aerosol	AFGI -TR-88	1-0098		
Research Group		ALGE IN BC			
DA NAME OF PERFORMING ORGANIZATION	6b OFFICE SYMBOL (If applicable)	7a NAME OF MO	DNITORING ORGA	VIZATION	
laiversity of Machington	1 F F F F F	Air Force	Geophysics L	aborator	y
6. ADDRESS (City, State and ZIP Code)	L	75 ADDRESS (CH	State and 710	ode)	
Department of Atmospheric Scie	nces AK-40	Nancoom AFR			
University of Washington		Hanscom Al	D	5000	
Seattle, WA 98195		riassacnuse		000	
8a NAME OF FUNDING / SPONSORING	BD OFFICE SYMBOL	9 PROCUREMENT	INSTRUMENT IDE	NTIFICATION	NUMBER
ORGANIZATION	(If applicable)	Contract F	19628-86-C-	0088	
Air Force Geophysics Lab.					
3c ADDRESS (City, State, and ZIP Code)		10 SOURCE OF F	UNDING NUMBER	s	
Air Force Systems Command		PROGRAM	PROJECT		WORK UNIT
United States Air Force		63707F	2688	03	FA
Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-5000		03/0/1		<u> </u>	
Dreliminary Fralustication	lice of a 35 CT	· Dadam fam 1	Mongueries (1)	and D	and
Preliminary Evaluations of the Use of a 35 GHz Radar for Measuring Cloud Base and					
LIOUD TOP HEIGHTS					
Biswas, Kumud R., and Hobbs, Peter V.					
13a TYPE OF REPORT	DVERED T	4 DATE OF REPO	RT (Year Month)	Dav) hs pr	GE COUNT
Final Report FROM (18)	1/86 1012/31/87	1988/06/	/06		92
16 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTATION					
17 COSATI CODES	18 SUBJECT TERMS (C	ontinue on reverse	of necessary and	identify by	block number)
FIELD GROUP SUB-GROUP	Dodon -1	haights	ilings of 1		
	Radar, cloud	nerghts, ce	lings of c	LOUDS	
To determine the accuracy	ang אספאט איז	ummer) rticallv-noi:	nting 35 GH	radar	an detect
cloud base and cloud top height	s. radar data of	f this type.	collected f	n earlie	r research
projects, have been compared to	cloud heights of	derived from	aircraft.	1 5.5 GH7	scanning
radar, and radiosondes.	- 0			•	0
Comparisons with in situ a	ircraft observat	tions provid	e the most 1	eliable	means for
evaluating the accuracy of the	35 GHz radar.	In the absen	ce of precip	itation.	or in very
light precipitation, the height	s of cloud bases	s and cloud	tops detecte	d by the	35 GHz radar
were within ~ 100 m of the heig	hts measured by	aircraft fl	ying over th	ne rada r.	However,
very thin clouds were not detec	ted by the rada	r unless the	y contained	some ice	particles.
In light to heavy precipitation	, the 35 GHz rad	dar underest	imated cloud	<mark>l top</mark> hei	ghts and
often could not detect cloud ba	ses.		•		_
Cloud base and top heights	indicated by th	he 35 GHz ra	dar and a 5.	5 GHz ra	dar were in
good agreement provided precipi	tation was/ no mo	on name ii)	y light. In	n heavier	precipitation,
DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY OF ARSTRACT	(wat mided	21 ARSTRACT CE	CURITY CLASSIEN		
UNCLASSIFIED/UNLIMITED DI SAME AS F		Unclassi	fied		
220. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE INDIVIDUAL		226 TELEPHONE	Include Area Code) 22c OFFIC	E SYMBOL
H. A. Brown		l		AFGL/	LYS
DD FORM 1473, 84 MAR 83 AF	R edition may be used un	til exhausted	SECURITY	CLASSIFICATI	ON OF THIS PAGE
	All other editions are of	beolete.			
			Unclass	sified	
	-1-	-			

19. Abstract (Continued)

the accuracy of the 35 GHz radar degraded relative to that of the 5.5 GHz due to attenuation. However, the 35 GHz radar was more accurate than the 5.5 GHz radar in detecting thin ice clouds.

Estimates of cloud heights using radiosonde data was probably the least accurate way of evaluating the 35 GHz radar. However, for stratiform clouds, the heights of cloud tops measured by these two techniques agreed to within $\sim 400 \pm 300$ m and for cloud bases to within $\sim 120 \pm 90$ m.

To further quantify the degree to which a 35 GHz radar can measure cloud heights, it is recommended that a dedicated field program be carried out in which a well instrumented research aircraft be flown at various heights over a 35 GHz radar in a wide variety of cloud situations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all those members of the Cloud and Aerosol Research Group, Atmospheric Sciences Department, University of Washington, who helped to collect the data used in this study. We thank David Erickson for help in analyzing the aircraft data from the GALE Project and Kay Dewar for drafting the figures.

Accession For NTIS GRA&1 DTIC TAB Unannounced Justification_ By____ Distribution/ Availability Codes and an contor lş stal Dist i

clustical contains color >
 cluster; /:: brif reproduct cluster; /:: brif reproduct cluster; color in black and colors.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments List of Figures List of Tables	iii vi xii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Scope of Study	1
1.2. Data Sources	1
1.3. Organization of Report	3
2. PREVIOUS STUDIES USING 35 GHz RADARS	4
3. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON'S 35 GHz RADAR	5
3.1 Specifications	5
3.2. Wavelength and Sensitivity	5
3.3. Beam Width and Horizontal Resolution	7
3.4. Pulse Length and Vertical Resolution	7
3.5. Radar Receiver	7
3.6. Data Display	8
3.7. Doppler Velocity Information	8
4. TECHNIQUES OF DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS	14
4.1. The 35 GHz Radar	14
4.2. Radiosonde Estimates of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights	14
4.3. Cloud Base and Cloud Top Height from 5.5 GHz Radar	14
4.4. Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights from Aircraft Observations	15
4.5. Rain Intensity	17
5. CLOUD TYPES STUDIED	18
5.1. Washington Coast, February 1979	18
5.2. Washington Coast, November - December 1979	18
5.3. Washington Coast, February 1980	18

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

5.4.	Seattle, Washington, December - January 1980 - 1981	19
5.5.	Washington Coast, January - February 1982	19
5.6.	Mid-Atlantic Coast of the United States, January - March 1986	19
6. COMPARIS WITH THE	ONS OF CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS MEASURED 35 GHz RADAR AND BY RADIOSONDES	20
6.1.	Observations	20
6.2	Summary	24
7. COMPARIS 35 GHz AN	ONS OF CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS MEASURED WITH D 5.5 GHz RADARS	31
7.1.	Comparison of Cloud Top Heights from the February 1979 Data Sets	31
7.2.	Comparisons of Cloud Top and Cloud Base Heights from the 1982 Data Sets	31
7.3.	Summary	44
8. COMPARIS THE 35 GH	ONS OF CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS MEASURED WITH Iz RADAR AND FROM AIRCRAFT	46
8.1.	Observations	46
8.2.	Summary	57
9. EFFECTS C 35 GHz RA	F PRECIPITATION ON CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS INDICATED BY THE DAR	61
10. SUMMAR MEASURI	Y OF RESULTS OF EVALUATION OF THE 35 GHz RADAR FOR NG CLOUD HEIGHTS	75
10.1.	Comparison with Radiosondes	75
10.2.	Comparisons with a 5.5 GHz Radar	75
10.3.	Comparisons with Airborne Observations	75
11. CONCLUE	DING REMARKS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	77
List of Reference	es	78

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	<u>e</u>	Page
3.1.	Color monitor display from the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar showing a time-height cross section of digitized reflectivities of cloud and precipitation from 14 February 1980. The height scale is on the left and the time scale is along the base. Various reflectivity values are displayed as different colors, with the numerical color code on the right. The color codes can be converted into dBZ.	9
3.2.	Expanded portion of Fig. 3.1 with maximum height reduced to about 9 km and the time scale expanded by a factor of two.	10
3.3.	As for Fig. 3.2, but with weak echoes suppressed to eliminate signals from light precipitation. Note the emergence of two cloud layers that were hardly distinguishable in Fig. 3.2.	11
3.4.	Example of grid point distribution (red dots) for doppler velocity measurements. The grid points are distributed through the cloud layer. The upper and lower heights and the spacing between the grid points can be selected by the radar operator. The spectrum of doppler velocities at each grid point is measured and stored on computer tape.	12
3.5.	Doppler velocities measured with the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar in a precipitation streamer from an altocumulus cloud layer on 15 January 1982 (a) at cloud level and (b) below cloud base. The height H (km), time T (hour and minute), and mean doppler velocity \overline{v} (cm s ⁻¹) are shown alongside each spectrum. Positive and negative values of \overline{v} indicate upward and downward motions, respectively. The PRF of the radar was 4000 Hz.	13
6.1.	Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights estimated from radiosondes. The radar was located in Seattle from December 1980 to January 1981 and the radiosondes were launched from the radar site.	21

.

<u>Figu</u>	2	<u>Page</u>
6.2.	Comparison of cloud base heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights estimated from radiosondes. The radar was located in Seattle from December 1980 to January 1981 and the radiosondes were launched from radar site.	22
6.3.	Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights estimated from radiosondes. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, from January to February 1982 and the radiosondes were launched from the radar site. The data points are primarily from widespread or stratiform clouds.	23
6.4.	As for Fig. 6.3 but for cloud base heights.	25
6.5.	Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights estimated from radiosonde. The radar was located at Cape Hatteras, North Carolina, from January to March 1986 and the radiosondes were launched 3 km from the radar site. Data points are from both convective and stratiform cloud situations.	26
6.6.	As for Fig. 6.5 but for cloud base heights.	27
6.7 <i>.</i>	As for Fig. 6.5 but for stratiform clouds only.	28
6.8.	As for Fig. 6.6 but for stratiform clouds only.	29
7.1.	Comparison of cloud top heights measured during February 1979 by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar. The 35 GHz radar was located at Moclips, on the Washington Coast, and the 5.5 GHz radar was located 30 km south of Moclips at Pt. Brown. The data points include both convective and stratiform clouds.	32
7.2.	As for Fig. 7.1 but for stratiform clouds only.	33

<u>Figur</u>	2 S	Page
7.3.	Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar for 24 February 1979 when there was relatively heavy precipitation at the 35 GHz radar site. The 35 GHz radar was located at Moclips, on the Washington Coast, and the 5.5 GHz radar was located 30 km south of Moclips at Pt. Brown.	34
7.4.	Comparison of cloud top heights for stratiform clouds measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, from January - February 1982.	36
7.5.	Comparison of cloud base heights for stratiform clouds measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, from January - February 1982.	37
7.6.	Comparison of cloud base heights and cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights and cloud top heights measured by the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, in January 1982. Only data points for non-precipitating cloud layers are plotted. The 35 GHz radar was operating at maximum sensitivity.	38
7.7.	 (a) Example of a color display echo pattern from a deep non-precipitating cloud layer measured by the University of Washington's vertically-pointing 35 GHz radar between 2200 - 2215 PST on 25 January 1982 in the CYCLES Project. (b) Same display as in (a) after eliminating very light echoes. Note that in (b) the apparent cloud top height has decreased considerably but the cloud base height remains almost the same. 	39
7.8.	As for Fig. 7.7 but for the period 2215 - 2230 PST.	40

·*......

Figure

- 7.9. Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, during January February 1982. The precipitation intensity at the ground was > 3 mm hr⁻¹. The point on the 1 : 1 line was for a marginal rain intensity of 3 mm hr⁻¹.
- 7.10. Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, during January February 1982. Data are for cases when multiple cloud layers were present and the echo indicated from the 35 GHz radar reached the ground but there was no recorded precipitation at the ground.
- 7.11. Comparison of cloud base heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. The radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, from January to February 1982. Data points are for cases when multiple cloud layers were present and the echo from the 35 GHz radar reached the ground level, but there was no recorded precipitation at the ground.
- 8.1. Comparison of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured from the aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, from November to December 1979. The data cover a variety of cloud conditions, including light (but not heavy) precipitation.
- 8.2. Comparison of cloud base heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, from November to December 1979. The data cover a variety of cloud conditions.

41

42

43

47

48

Figur	e	Page
8.3.	Radar echo top heights from the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar plotted against aircraft flying level over the radar. There was deep cloud above the aircraft in all cases. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, on 1 December 1979. There was heavy precipitation at the ground. Means and maxima rainfall intensities ranged from $3.5 - 8.1$ mm hr ⁻¹ and $3.5 - 16.2$ mm hr ⁻¹ , respectively.	49
8.4.	Comparison of cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, during February 1980 (excluding observations from 14 February 1980).	51
8.5.	As for Fig. 8.4 but for selected periods with deep cloud and/or moderate precipitation.	52
8.6.	Comparison of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, on 14 February 1980. There was light intermittent snow at the ground.	53
8.7.	Comparison of cloud base heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured from aircraft. The radar was lucated at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, during February 1980.	54
8.8.	Comparisons of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located in Seattle. Washington, from December 1980 to January 1981.	55
8.9.	Comparison of cloud base heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located in Seattle, Washington, from December 1980 to January 1981.	56

Figur	<u>c</u>	Page
8,10.	Comparison of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Cape Hatteras, North Carolina, from January - March, 1986.	58
8.11.	As for Fig. 8.10 but for cloud base heights.	59
9,1.	Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at the radar site on 1 December 1979. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast.	63
9.2.	Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at the radar site on 26 February 1980. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast.	65
9,3,	Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar, and rainfall rate at the radar site on 16 January 1982. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast.	67
9,4,	Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at radar site on 22 January 1982. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast.	69
9.5.	Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at the radar site on 12 February 1982. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast.	71
9.6.	Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at the radar site on 13 February 1982. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast.	7.3

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.1. Summary of Data Used for Evaluating the Accuracy of the University of	
Washington's 35 GHz Radar for Determining Cloud Top and Cloud Base Heights.	2
2.1. Specifications for the University of Washington's 35 GHz Pader	6
5.1 Specifications for the Oniversity of Washington's 55 OFIZ Radar.	0
4.1 Some Specifications for the NCAR 5.5 GHz Radar.	16
6.1 Symmetry of Comparisons of Cloud Page and Cloud Top Haights Measured by	
the University of Washington's 35 GHz Radar and Radiosondes.	30
7.1 Summary of Comparisons of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights Measured	
by the University of Washington's 35 GHz Radar and the NCAR 5.5 GHz Radar.	
Comparisons Confined Primarily to Non-precipitating or Light-precipitating Clouds.	45
8.1 Summary of Comparisons of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights Measured by	
the University of Washington's 35 GHz Radar and Aircraft in GALE. Comparisons	
Confined to Non-precipitating or Light-precipitating Clouds	60
Commer to the prochamily of StRin brochims. B croader	

à

<u>,</u>1

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Scope of Study

The Air Force Geophysics Laboratory is involved in developing and evaluating sensors for the automated measurements of critical weather conditions. The work described in this report, which represents a portion of this larger study, is concerned with an initial evaluation of the extent to which a 35 GHz (0.86 mm wavelength) radar can be used to measure cloud base and cloud top heights. This initial evaluation has involved the analysis of data, gathered in earlier research programs, to assess the accuracy with which the University of Washington's ground-based, vertically-pointing 35 GHz radar can detect cloud base and top heights under various weather conditions. This has been done by comparing the 35 GHz radar measurements with measurements of cloud base and top heights obtained from aircraft, and also with estimates from radiosondes and a 5.5 GHz (5.5 cm wavelength) radar.

1.2. Data Sources

Since 1974 the Cloud and Aerosol Research (CAR) Group in the Atmospheric Sciences Department at the University of Washington (U of W) has carried out a series of field programs to study winter cyclonic storms in the Pacific Northwest (the CYCLES Project). Also, in 1986, the CAR Group participated in a study of winter storms in North Carolina (the GALE Project). In both these projects a modified Air Force TPQ-11, 35 GHz radar (Paulsen et al., 1970) was used on the ground in the vertically-pointing mode to monitor clouds and precipitation.

In both the CYCLES and GALE Projects, data on cloud and precipitation parameters were available from several other sources, including overflying or nearby research aircraft, radiosondes (sometimes as frequently as every 90 minutes), one or more scanning 5.5 GHz radars, and precipitation gauges. The availabilities of these various data sources for evaluating the 35 GHz radar are tabulated in Table 1.1.

It should be emphasized that neither the CYCLES nor the GALE field project was designed to evaluate the accuracy of the 35 GHz radar in determining cloud top and base heights, even though some data suitable for this purpose were acquired. Consequently, voluminous data sources had to be searched in order to find suitable data for this study. Also, the data were often not in convenient formats for easy comparison with the 35 GHz radar data. Nevertheless, as documented in this report, we were able to glean much useful information, which not only provides an initial evaluation of the capability of a 35 GHz radar for measuring cloud base and top heights but also highlights topics that need further investigation.

Year and	Primary Study Objectives	Location of	Total Hours			Supporting	Data			
Time Period	and Number of Storms or Cases Studied	35 GHz Radar	of Radar Operation	Radiosonde Luurchod From Sute' (Approx. Time Interval Between Launches)	Other Radurs of	Total Hours of Operation Other Radars	Instrumented F Aircraft 0.	light Hours ver Region of 5 GHz Radar	Raingauge at Site of 35 GHz Radar?	Comments
1986 January - March	Cloud and precipitation studies (13 storm periods).	Cape Hauteras, North Carolina	310	Ycs (0.5 to 12 ht)	Two 5.5 GHz (NCAR's CP-3 and CP-4)	485	University of Washington's Convair C-131; NOAA's Sabreliner NCAR's King Air; NASA's ER-2	8	Yes	Radiosonde and a.r.c.uft duta only analyze 1.
1982 Januury - February	Cloud and precipitation studies and some comparions with a 5.5 GHz radar (19 storms).	Point Brown, on Pacific Coast of Washington	¥96	Yes (2.5 to 3 hr)	Two 5.5 GHz (NCAR's CP-3 and CP-4)	292	University of Washingtum's B-23: NOAA's P-3	27	Yes	Analysis done for radiosonde, one 5.5 GHz radar (CP-4) at Pr. Brown and airtraft. Arreaft information mostly from University of Washington's B-23. Some analyses with raingauge data.
1980 - 1981 December - January	Cloud and precipitation studies and some verification of the 35 GHz radar (8 storms).	Scattle, at University of Washington	85	Yes (1 day)	:	:	University of Washington's B-23	20	Ycs	Kadwsonde and auteralt data analyzod.
1980 Febnuary	Study effects of artificial cloud seeding and some verification of 35 GHz radar (13 cases with winter storms layer clouds and cumulus clouds).	Grayland, on Pacific Coast of Washington	356	S	:	;	University of Washington's B-23; University of Washington's Navajo USAF C-130	16	Ycs	Most information from the University of Wathington ancruit
1979 November - December	Cloud and precipitation studies with winter storms and some calibration of 35 GHz radar (7 storms).	Grayland, on Pacific Coast of Washington	331	۶ ۲	:	1	University of Washington's B-23	57	Ycs	Aurrali and some rangauge data analyzed.
1979 Febniary - March	Cloud and precipitation studies with frontal storms on Pacific Coast (15 storms).	Moclips, on Pacific Coast of Washington	214	Yes (0.5 to 4 hr) (Dre 5.5 GHz NCAR's CP-3)	265	University of Washingtoo's B-23; WCAR's Electra; USAF's C-130	121	52 22	5.5 GHz radar and aurcraft data analyzed. Most aircraft. Most aircraft. Information from University of Wachington's B. 23 5.5 GHz adar was locrated at Pt. Brown on Washington Coast.

-2-

1.3. Organization of Report

In Section 2 of this report we review previous studies that have utilized 35 GHz radars. The technical characteristics of the U of W 35 GHz radar are described in Section 3. The ways in which the various data were collected and analyzed are described in Section 4. Section 5 through Section 9 describe the results of our evaluation of the 35 GHz radar for measuring cloud base and cloud top heights. Finally, in the last section of this report, the results of the present study are summarized and recommendations are made for further studies to complete the evaluation of 35 GHz radars for measuring cloud base and top heights.

SECTION 2. PREVIOUS STUDIES USING 35 GHz RADARS

Radars operating at frequencies of 35 GHz and 30 GHz were used for a variety of studies in the 1950s and 1960s (e.g., Marshall, 1953; Plank et al., 1955; Boucher, 1959; Wexler and Atlas, 1959; Harper, 1964, 1966; Stewart, 1966). These studies showed that such radars can reveal a variety of interesting cloud features such as cloud heights, precipitation trajectories and patterns, generating cells, melting levels and wind shear.

During the 1960s the U.S. Air Force deployed large numbers of vertically-pointing 35 GHz radars for continuous measurements of cloud parameters. This network revealed both the potential of such radars and some of the shortcomings associated with them (Petrocchi and Paulsen, 1966; Paulsen <u>et al.</u>, 1970).

Weiss <u>et al.</u> (1979) compared measurements on clouds obtained simultaneously with vertically-pointing 35 and 9.4 GHz radars. They concluded that the 35 GHz radar provided more reliable information on the distribution of cloud particles, and therefore on cloud-top heights, than a 9.4 GHz radar but that it suffered from greater attenuation.

Hobbs <u>et al.</u> (1981) showed the usefulness of a 35 GHz radar for detecting ice in clouds, including artificial seeding effects. Hobbs <u>et al.</u> (1985) compared observations with a 35 GHz radar with <u>simultaneous airborne</u> measurements of cloud structure and showed that the radar could detect clouds in which the diameters of the droplets do not exceed ~ 27 μ m provided there are sufficient concentrations of 10 - 15 μ m diameter droplets. They also noted that clouds containing only 1 L⁻¹ of 100 μ m diameter ice crystals are detectable by the radar.

Some intercomparisons of a 35 GHz radar (in its original Air Force TPQ-11 configuration) with a 5.6 GHz radar were reported by Super et al. (1986). They reported attenuation of the 35 GHz signal for high altitude clouds (7 to 10 km) and degradation of the signal by ice, snow or slush on the antenna dish or radome. Also cloud top heights determined from the 35 GHz radar were occasionally as much as 1.5 km lower than those indicated by the 5.6 GHz radar. We attribute these deficiencies, in part, to the use of old electronics. Modern solid-state, low-noise, electronics and improved display systems can overcome some of these problems (see Section 3).

Hill (1982) and Hill and Balamos (1982) made some comparisons between cloud top heights detected by a TPQ-11, 35 GHz radar and those derived from limited aircraft observations. The mean difference in cloud top heights detected by the radar and those estimated from the radiosondes was \pm 750 m and the corresponding difference between radar and aircraft estimates was \pm 300 m. The heights derived from the 35 GHz radar were sometimes greater and sometimes less than the heights obtained from the radiosondes and the aircraft.

Dopplerization of 35 GHz radars have been reported by Pasqualucci <u>et al.</u> (1983), Sauvageot (1982) and Hobbs <u>et al.</u> (1985). Weiss <u>et al.</u> (1986) described a new technique for dopplerizing such radars. In a study with 35 GHz and 5.5 GHz doppler radars, Hobbs <u>et al.</u> (1985) found good agreement between the two fields of doppler velocities, but the 35 GHz radar did better at resolving lower velocities.

-4-

SECTION 3. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON'S 35 GHz RADAR

3.1. Specifications

The University of Washington's 35 GHz radar derives from the U. S. Air Force AN/TPQ-11 radar (Petrocchi and Paulsen, 1966; Paulsen <u>et al.</u>, 1970). Initially it was used by the University of Washington in its original configuration for measuring cloud heights (Weiss <u>et al.</u>, 1979). Subsequently, the radar was modernized for the CYCLES Project by upgrading the electronics (using solid-state electronics for the stable local oscillator and an ultra low-noise intermediate frequency preamplifier mixer), data-processing and data-display capabilities (Hobbs and Funk, 1984; Hobbs <u>et al.</u>, 1985). Specifications for this radar are given in Table 3.1.

The 35 CHz radar used in the 1986 GALE Project on the East Coast was similar to that used in the CYCLES Project but it contained a more compact transmitter-receiver, the minimum detectable power of which might have been slightly different from that listed in Table 3.1. Also, in the GALE Project the radar was only operated at a pulse repetition frequency (PRF) of 1000 Hz.

3.2. Wavelength and Sensitivity

The reflectivity (i.e., scattering cross-section per unit volume) determines the power returned to the radar by a target. The reflectivity (η) is given by (Battan, 1973):

$$\eta = \frac{\pi^5}{\lambda^4} |\mathbf{k}|^2 Z_e \tag{1}$$

where λ is the wavelength (in cm) of the radar, k a complex function that is dependent on the dielectric constant of the reflector, and Z_e the effective radar reflectivity factor (in mm⁶ m⁻³). Assuming $Z_e = 1$ and $|k|^2 = 0.91$ (for water), the mean values of γ for water are given by:

$$10 \log \eta = -3.5 \, dB \text{ for } 5.5 \, \text{GHz} \, (\text{C-band})$$
 (2)

$$10 \log \eta = 4.2 \, dB \text{ for } 9.4 \, \text{GHz} \, (X \text{-band})$$
 (3)

and,
$$10 \log \eta = 27.1 \, dB \text{ for } 35 \, \text{GHz} \, (\text{K}_a \text{-band})$$
 (4)

Thus, other factors being equal, a 35 GHz radar is \sim 23 dB more sensitive than a 9.4 GHz radar and over 30 dB more sensitive than a 6 GHz radar. However, this advantage of 35 GHz radars is somewhat offset by the fact that the radar

Frequency (GHz)	35
Wavelength (cm)	0.86
Peak power (kW)	80 (used) 140 (maximum)
Pulse repetition frequency (Hz)	1000 or 4000
Pulse duration (µs)	0.5
Pulse length (m)	150
Receiver band width (MHz)	5
Minimum measurable signal (dBm)	-85
Beam width (dt_{c})	0.26

 TABLE 3.1 Specifications for the University of Washington's 35 GHz Radar.

constants are not the same for different radars. Also, at 35 GHz there is greater attenuation by water vapor and hydrometeors than at 5.5 or 9.4 GHz. Recently the expression for the signal-to-noise ratio for weather radars has been re-examined by Smith (1986) for a variety of scenarios. Smith's analysis indicates that the λ^{-4} dependency in Eqn. (1) may not be sufficient to describe the wavelength sensitivities of a radar. Some of these problems may be overcome by operating at limited ranges. For example, the U of W 35 GHz radar points vertically upward, so the maximum range of interest is only ~ 10 - 20 km. This means that the radar can be operated at a higher PRF, resulting in greater sensitivity.

3.3. Beam Width and Horizontal Resolution

The antenna of the U of W 35 GHz radar gives a circular radiation pattern that has a primary beam width (1/2 power point) of ~ 0.26° (0.0045 radians). This results in beam diameters of ~ 4.5 m at a range of 1 km, ~ 25 m at 5 km, and ~ 40 m at 8 km. Thus, the horizontal resolution of the beam is quite high. While this is generally an advantage, it makes comparison of observations with other radars or with aircraft difficult, since they may not sample the same target.

3.4. Pulse Length and Vertical Resolution

The vertical resolution of a vertically-pointing radar is roughly equal to one-half of the pulse length of the radar. The U of W 35 GHz radar has a pulse length of 150 m (corresponding to a pulse duration of $0.5 \,\mu$ s). This gives a vertical resolution of ~ 75 m. This resolution is fairly good for determining cloud base and cloud top heights, although the top height might be overestimated by 75 m. Multiple cloud layers will not be revealed as separate entities unless they are more than 75 m apart. The resolution can be improved by going to shorter pulse lengths, but there are technical limitations. Also, a shorter pulse length results in some loss in sensitivity.

3.5. Radar Receiver

The U of W 35 GHz radar receiver consists of an ultra low-noise intermediate frequency (IF) pre-amplifier mixer, which replaced the original mixer in the TPQ-11. The receiver has an input power-handling capacity of ~ 55 to 60 dB, before the amplifier is saturated. An additional 30 dB of manual attenuation is available (in steps of 1 dB), which can be used to extend the power-handling capacity to > 85 dB; this provides good detailed reflectivity information, even with a strong echo.

3.6. Data Display

On the old TPQ-11 radar, data was recorded on a time-height, grey-scale intensity recorder, which displayed the intensity of the echo in four shades of grey (Paulsen et al., 1970). The recorder was an electromechanical system, and its sensitivity was much less than a CRT display.

In the U of W 35 GHz radar, the time-height-reflectivity output is digitized and it is displayed in real time on a color monitor. The data is also recorded on computer tape for subsequent analysis. If necessary, the 60 dB receiver power span can be handled in 256 steps, thus allowing for very fine resolution in reflectivity measurements. Generally, however, 10 color steps are used for the 60 dB span.

Figures 3.1 and 3.2 show examples of the reflectivity color displays. The reflectivity scale has been calibrated to give the dBZ value at any point on the color display. If multiple cloud layers are present, but are not resolved due to weak echoes between the layers, the heights of the layers can be estimated by artificially suppressing the weak echoes, as shown on Fig. 3.3. However, this method may not work in moderate to heavy precipitation.

3.7. Doppler Velocity Information

The U of W 35 GHz radar is dopplerized to provide measurements of particle motions up to 2 m s⁻¹ at a PRF of 1000 Hz and up to 8 m s⁻¹ at a PRF of 4000 Hz. The velocity information can be gathered from preselected grid points (as illustrated in Fig. 3.4) in the time-height display and stored on computer tape along with the reflectivity data. The velocity spectrum at different heights can be displayed on the color monitor or hard copied onto a printer.

The doppler information provides a means for discriminating between rain and cloud particles, and also determining cloud base heights when there is precipitation below cloud base. Figure 3.5 shows an example of a doppler velocity spectrum when radar was operating at a PRF of 4000 Hz, so that particle velocities up to 8 m s⁻¹ could be measured without ambiguity. The use of doppler data is not discussed further in this report, but it provides a potential technique for obtaining additional information on cloud heights.



Figure 3.1 <u>Color monitor display from the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar snowing a une-diciglus (1988</u> section of digitized reflectivities of cloud and precipitation from 14 February 1980. The height scale is on the jeft and the time scale is along the base. Various reflectivity values are displayed as different colors, with the numericae color code on the right. The color codes can be converted into dBZ.



Figure 3.2 Expanded portion of Fig. 3.1 with maximum height reduced to about 9 km and the trute scale scalable? by a factor of two.



Insure 2.3. As for Fig. 3.2, but with weak zeroes suppressed to eliminate signals from right precipitation. Note the emergence of two croud rayers that were hardly distinguishable in the 2.2.



TIME (PST)

ingure 3.4. Example of grid point distribution (red dots) for doppler velocity measurements. The grid points are distributed through the cloud layer. The upper and lower heights and the spacing between the grid points dat by selected by the radar operator. The spectrum of doppler velocities at each grid point is measured and stored at computer tape.



Figure 3.5. Doppler velocities measured with the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar in a precipitation streamer from an altocumulus cloud layer on 15 January 1982 (a) at cloud level and (b) below cloud base. The height H (km), time T (hour and minute), and mean doppler velocity \overline{v} (cm s⁻¹) are shown alongside each spectrum. Positive and negative values of \overline{v} indicate upward and downward motions, respectively. The PRF of the radar was 4000 Hz.

SECTION 4. TECHNIQUES OF DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

Since the data to be used here derives from field projects that were not designed to check the accuracy or reliability of the 35 GHz radar, but rather to study clouds and precipitation, it was necessary to survey large amounts of data for the present study. We describe here the techniques used for collecting and analyzing data from the different sources.

4.1. The 35 GHz Radar

Whenever the U of W 35 GHz radar was operating, time-height cross sections of radar reflectivity were collected on a grey-scale chart recorder and, simultaneously, digitized data were recorded on computer tape (for both on-line color display and for later detailed analysis). Apart from time periods when very weak and wispy clouds were overhead (when the radar was operated at its full sensitivity), the reflectivity information was generally normalized to a 15,000 feet height range (in some cases to 30,000 feet) using the logarithmic mode of amplification of the receiver. This minimized corrections for range attenuation. In addition, from time to time, depending on conditions, an additional attenuation (up to 30 dB) was imposed on the input to the radar receiver to avoid saturating the receiver amplifier. The extent to which this additional attenuation affected the measurements of cloud top height is not known but, presumably, it would have resulted in an indicated height that was lower than the actual cloud height.

4.2. Radiosonde Estimates of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights

Since a large number of radiosondes were launched during both the CYCLES and GALE field projects, we have attempted to estimate cloud base and cloud top heights from the sounding data for comparison with mean cloud base and cloud top heights detected by the 35 GHz radar. Cloud tops were assumed to be located at the level where the sounding indicated that saturation with respect to ice had fallen to about 95%. Cloud base heights were assumed to be located at the lifting condensation level. Sometimes the lifting condensation level was hard to estimate, since it depends on the level from which the air parcel is assumed to be lifted. When it was precipitating, the air was often saturated down to the ground thereby prohibiting any estimate of cloud base height. The cloud top and base heights estimated from the soundings were probably generally good in widespread stratiform situations but less reliable in other (more convective) situations.

4.3. Cloud Base and Cloud Top Height From 5.5 GHz Radar

During several of the field projects, a 5.5 GHz scanning radar from the National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) was located close to the U of W 35 GHz vertically-pointing radar. The 5.5 GHz radar had a greater

peak power (over 300 kW) than the 35 GHz radar (80 kW) and the 5.5 GHz radar had highly sensitive receivers (minimum detectable signal -105 dBm) and suffered negligible attenuation from hydrometeors or water vapor. On the other hand, because of its lower frequency, the 5.5 GHz radar is not expected to detect non-precipitating clouds as well as the 35 GHz radar. Specifications for the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar are listed in Table 4.1.

On most occasions the 5.5 and 35 GHz radars were located at the same site, but in the February - March 1979 CYCLES Project the 5.5 GHz radar was located 30 km south of the 35 GHz radar. The 5.5 GHz radar was generally operated in a PPI mode, but, on occasions, it was pointed vertically. When the two radars were at the same site, we used the highest elevation angle PPI color displays, at intervals of 15 to 30 min, for estimating mean cloud heights over an area surrounding the 5.5 GHz radar. When the two radars were 30 km apart we used the 5.5 GHz cloud height information in the direction toward the 35 GHz radar, so that the cloud regions sampled by both radars were similar.

Data from the 5.5 GHz radar were available on computer tape and on time lapse 16 mm color movie film. Estimates of cloud top heights were not difficult, but cloud base heights were sometimes difficult to measure. particularly when the bases were low, due to low-level ground clutter and receiver noise and because the transmit-receive switch on the 5.5 GHz radar restricts measurements to targets \geq 1500 m above the radar. Height estimates were corrected for beam curvature using the US standard atmosphere.

4.4. Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights From Aircraft Observations

The most reliable method for determining cloud base and cloud top heights was from an aircraft flying over the vertically-pointing 35 GHz radar. The location of the aircraft relative to the radar was generally determined from flight track recordings. If these were not available, the flight track was constructed from the VOR-DME data recorded aboard the aircraft. The position of the aircraft with respect to the cloud was determined from in-flight voice recordings and the ground-control logs and confirmed by checking on-board cloud microphysical measurements.

The U of W research aircraft was equipped with three PMS particle measuring probes (15 size channels each) that measured the sizes of cloud and precipitation particles. The aircraft also had PMS 2-D probes that recorded images of the types and sizes of cloud and precipitation particles. Additional microphysical data, such as cloud liquid water content (Johnson-Williams) and icr particle concentrations, were also available. The aircraft flight level was derived from the on-board pressure record, which was converted to height using sounding data. When sounding data was not available, the standard pressure-height scale on the pseudo-adiabatic chart was used, after correcting the height scale with the 500 mb height from the weather chart closest in time to the flight.

Wavelength (cm)	5.5
Peak power (kW)	316
Pulse repetition frequency (Hz)	1000 and 769.2
Pulse length (µs)	1
Receiver band width (MHz)	10
Minimum measurable signal (dBm)	-105
Antenna diameter (m)	3.7
Beam width (deg)	1.05

TABLE 4.1 Some Specifications for the NCAR 5.5 GHz Radar.

4.5. Rain Intensity

A ground-based, tipping bucket raingauge was generally located at the radar site. The rainfall intensity (up to 32 mm hr^{-1}) was recorded on computer tape. These data were used to determine the variations in rainfall intensity over 5 minute intervals.

SECTION 5. CLOUD TYPES STUDIED

5.1. Washington Coast, February 1979

We will use data collected at Pt. Brown on the Pacific Coast of Washington State in February 1979 to compare cloud heights observed with the 35 GHz radar with cloud heights observed by the 5.5 GHz radar which was located at Moclips 30 km ω the north of Pt. Brown.

During this period measurements were obtained in clouds associated with an occlusion (17 February), multiple cloud layers (20 February), rather uniform warm-frontal clouds (24 - 26 February), and rather uniform clouds associated with warm advection (26 February). The cloud types included cumulus, stratocumulus, altocumulus, altostratus, cirrus, and cirrocumulus.

5.2. Washington Coast, November - December 1979

In November - December 1979, the 35 GHz radar was located at Grayland, on the Pacific Coast of Washington State, and the U of W B-23 aircraft flew over the radar. Both the weather and the cloud types encountered were quite variable. The clouds include non-precipitating multiple layers associated with a weak cold-frontal system (15 November), low-level clouds (4 December), convective clouds associated with a comma cloud in a polar airstream (18 November), non-precipitating cloud layers in a pre-frontal system (21 November), upper-level generating cells associated with a cold-frontal passage in an occluded system (25 November), cumulus, stratocumulus and multiple diffused middle- and upper-level clouds in a dissipating weather system (29 November), uniform and deep warm-frontal precipitating clouds (1 December), altostratus and altocumulus clouds. and low-level and thin upper-level clouds associated with a warm sector of a frontal system (5 December), an extensive band of non-precipitating low and mid-level clouds and, at times, drizzle from the low clouds (6 December).

5.3. Washington Coast, February 1980

In February 1980, the 35 GHz radar was located at Grayland, on the Pacific Coast of Washington State, and cloud heights observed with this radar are compared with the U of W E-23 aircraft flying overhead. Varying weather conditions and cloud types were encountered, they included scattered stratocumulus, cumulus, altocumulus, altostratus, thin and layered cirrus, cirrocumulus and, at times, deeper altocumulus layers that persisted for long periods with no precipitation, multiple layered clouds, and deep frontal stratocumulus and nimbostratus with light to moderate rain. There was even a day (14 February) with intermittent snow at the ground from moderately deep cloud.

5.4. Seattle, Washington, December - January 1980 - 1981

During December - January 1980 - 1981, the radar was located in Seattle, Washington, and radiosondes were launched from the same site. Cloud heights observed with the 35 GHz radar were compared with those estimated from the U of W B-23 overflying aircraft and from radiosondes launched from the radar site.

The period was characterized by general low- and mid-level clouds (stratocumulus, cumulus, altocumulus and altostratus), which often formed decks of multiple layers that were often broken or scattered. Cloud tops generally had a uniform structure, but at times they contained generating cells and fallstreaks. Fallstreaks between layers often obscured individual cloud layers. I ight intermittent precipitation was sometimes present.

5.5. Washington Coast, January - February 1982

During January - February 1982, the 35 GHz radar was located at Pt. Brown on the Washington Coast. Cloud heights from the 35 GHz radar were compared with estimates of cloud heights from radiosondes, the 5.5 GHz radar and from the U of W B-23 aircraft.

The clouds encountered were isolated cumulus (7 January), upper-level clouds associated with a weak synoptic system (10 January), shallow rainbands (13 January), deep stratiform clouds in a strong frontal system (15, 16 and 17 January), deep precipitating clouds associated with warm advection (22 January), non-precipitating and precipitating cloud layers associated with occluded and warm fronts with generating cells (24 - 25 January), widespread convective activity with well-defined rainbands composed of cumuliform clouds (26 January), clouds associated with a warm occlusion (30 January), thin clouds with occasional fallstreaks (8 February), non-frontal clouds (10 February), postfrontal cumuli (11 February) and multiple layers of non-precipitating and precipitating clouds associated with warm advection (12 - 13 February).

5.6. Mid-Atlantic Coast of the United States, January - March 1986

From January 15 through March 15, the radar was located at Cape Hatteras, North Carolina. Cloud heights from the 35 GHz radar were compared with those from radiosondes, launched 3 km from the radar site, and with airborne observations.

A variety of weather and cloud conditions were encountered, ranging from scattered cumulus and large cumulonimbus to widespread and deep stratiform cloud layers.

SECTION 6. COMPARISONS OF CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS MEASURED WITH THE 35 GHz RADAR AND BY RADIOSONDES

In this section, data on cloud base and cloud top heights determined from the 35 GHz radar are compared with estimates of cloud heights from radiosondes launched from or near the radar site.

6.1. Observations

During the period December - January 1980 - 1981 the U of W 35 GHz radar was located at the University of Washington in Seattle and radiosondes were launched once a day from the radar site. Out of seven radiosondes launched during this period, six provided seven estimates of mean cloud top heights (one of the soundings provided two estimates due to the presence of two cloud layers).

The relation between the cloud top heights measured by the 35 GHz radar and those deduced from the soundings are shown in Fig. 6.1. The correlation coefficient between the two sets of data points is 0.96. The mean difference between the two sets of measurements is about $\pm 400 \text{ m}^*$, and the standard deviation of the mean difference is $\sim 340 \text{ m}$.

Fewer pairs of data points were available for comparing cloud base heights. The comparison is shown in Fig. 6.2. The correlation coefficient is high (0.99), but the mean difference between the two techniques is about ± 460 m and the standard deviation of this mean difference is ~ 370 m.

Since the data set is small, we have not attempted any stratification by cloud type. The cloud conditions were variable at times, even broken or scattered.

From January - February 1982 the U of W 35 GHz radar was located at Pt. Brown on the Washington Coast and several radiosondes were launched on each operational day from the same site. Ninety-one radiosondes were launched during this period, but cloud top and cloud base heights for comparison with the radar could be estimated from only thirty-one sondes. On most of these occasions there was widespread or stratiform cloud, and on a very few occasions convective clouds.

The relationship between the radar indicated and radiosonde estimated cloud top heights are shown in Fig. 6.3. Although the correlation is good (r = 0.96), the scatter is rather high. The mean difference between the two sets of measurements is ± 460 m and the standard deviation of the mean difference ~ 430 m.

The data set for comparing cloud base heights is fewer in number, because those soundings which were moist down to the ground, or for which the 35 GHz radar echo reached the ground, could not be used for this purpose. The

^{*}When the difference between two sets of measurements is indicated as being \pm , the data points were distributed on either side of the perfect-fit (1 : 1) line.


Figure 6.1. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> top heights estimated from radiosondes. The radar was located in Seattle from December 1980 to January 1981 and the radiosondes were launched from the radar site.



Figure 6.2. <u>Comparison of cloud base heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> base heights estimated from radiosondes. The radar was located in Seattle from December 1980 to January 1981 and the radiosondes were launched from radar site.





results are shown in Fig. 6.4. The correlation between the two data sets is 0.94, with a mean difference of about ± 400 m and a standard deviation of ~ 300 m.

From January - March 1986 the U of W 35 GHz radar was located at Cape Hatteras on the Atlantic Coast of North Carolina; National Weather Service radiosondes were launched 3 km away. Depending on the weather there were as many as 7 or 8 radiosondes launched each day, sometimes as frequent as every hour. In total, there were about fifty-six radiosonde soundings during this period, thirty-seven of which were associated with some type of cloud echo recorded by the 35 GHz radar. Including cases of multiple cloud layers, there were forty-five comparable pairs of data points for cloud top height and twenty-three comparable pairs of data points for cloud base height for comparing the radar and radiosonde estimates. The fewer data points for cloud base height is due primarily to the fact that if precipitation is present it is either difficult (extended virga) or impossible to detect cloud base heights with the 35 GHz radar.

The relationship between the two sets of measurements for cloud top height is shown in Fig. 6.5. The overall correlation between the two data sets is 0.89, but considerable scatter is apparent with a mean difference of about \pm 700 m and a standard deviation of the mean difference of ~ 730 m.

The relationship between the measurements for cloud base height from the two data sets is shown in Fig. 6.6. The correlation is 0.93, but the scatter is again large: the mean difference in heights is \pm 550 m with a standard deviation of ~ 670 m.

If we restrict our attention to widespread stratiform clouds, the relationships improve (Figs. 6.7 and 6.8). For cloud top height the correlation is now 0.97 and the mean difference reduces to \pm 380 m with a standard deviation of ~ 300 m. For cloud base height the correlation coefficient between the two data sets for stratiform clouds is 0.99 with a mean difference of \pm 120 m and a standard deviation of ~ 90 m.

6.2 Summary

A summary of the comparisons of cloud base and cloud top heights measured by the U of W 35 GHz radar and those derived from radiosondes is contained in Table 6.1. The cloud top heights derived from these two techniques agree with each other to within 400 (\pm 340 m) - 700 (\pm 730 m). In the case of stratiform clouds, the agreement for cloud tops is to within 400 \pm 300 m and for cloud bases to within 120 \pm 90 m.

In a similar study, but using a more limited data set, Hill and Balamos (1982) obtained a difference of ~ 700 m between the heights of clouds (excluding deep convection) determined from a 35 GHz radar and from radiosondes.

We did not investigate the effects of heavy precipitation on these comparisons, although a few cases of light to moderate precipitation, and a few cases of heavy precipitation, are included in the data sets described above.



Figure 6.4. As for Fig. 6.3 but for cloud base heights.



Figure 6.5. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> top heights estimated from radiosonde. The radar was located at Cape Hatteras, North Carolina, from January to March 1986 and the radiosondes were launched 3 km from the radar site. Data points are from both convective and stratiform cloud situations.



Figure 6.6. As for Fig. 6.5 but for cloud base heights.



Figure 6.7. As for Fig. 6.5 but for stratiform clouds only.



Figure 6.8. As for Fig. 6.6 but for stratiform clouds only.

Period and Location	Data Comparison	Number of pairs of data points	Correlation coefficient between the two data sets	Mean difference in heights between the two data sets (meters)	Standard deviation of mean difference in heights (meters)
December - January 1980 - 1981 Seattle, WA	Cloud top height comparisons for all clouds.	7	0.96	± 400	340
December - January 1980 - 1981 Seattle, WA	Cloud base height comparisons for all clouds.	4	0.99	± 460	370
January - February 1982 Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud top height comparisons, mostly stratiform clouds.	31	0.96	± 500)	400
January - February 1982 Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud base height comparisons, mostly stratiform clouds.	10	0.94	± 400	300
January - March 1986 Cape Hatteras, NC	Cloud top height comparisons for all clouds.	45	0.89	± 700	730
January - March 1986 Cape Hatteras, NC	Cloud base height comparisons for all clouds.	23	0.93	± 550	700
January - March 1986 Cape Hatteras, NC	Cloud top height comparison, stratiform clouds only.	18	0.97	± 400	300
January - March 1986 Cape Hatteras, NC	Cloud base height comparisons, stratiform clouds only.	6	0.99	± 120	90

6.1 Summary of Comparisons of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights Measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz Radar and Radiosondes.

SECTION 7. COMPARISONS OF CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS MEASURED WITH 35 GHz AND 5.5 GHz RADARS

The University of Washington 35 GHz and the NCAR 5.5 GHz radars were operated close together and simultaneously during research projects in 1979, 1982 and 1986. In this section, we compare measurements from these two radars for the 1979 and 1982 projects.

7.1. Comparison of Cloud Top Heights from the February 1979 Data Set

During February 1979 the U of W 35 GHz radar was located at Moclips on the Washington Coast, and the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar was located at Pt. Brown on the Washington Coast which is 30 km south of Moclips. Cloud heights were determined from the highest elevation angle PPI scans of the 5.5 GHz radar along an azimuth pointed toward Moclips. These heights were then compared with those from the vertically-pointing 35 GHz radar at Moclips.

Figure 7.1 shows the scatter diagram for the two sets of measurements of cloud top heights. The 102 data points shown in this figure include both non-convective and convective clouds. As can be seen, there is some scatter around the 1 : 1 perfect-fit line but the correlation coefficient is high (r = 0.97). The mean difference between the cloud top heights measured by the two radars is about ± 260 m with a standard deviation of 230 m.

To improve the chances that the two radars were sampling the same cloud, the comparison can be restricted to widespread, non-convective cloud. The results for seventy-nine such pairs of such measurements are shown in Fig. 7.2. The correlation coefficient is now 0.99, and the mean difference between the cloud top heights measured by the two radars is \pm 190 m with a standard deviation of 190 m.

The cloud top heights measured by the two radars differed by greater amounts when heavy precipitation was present. For example, on 24 February 1979 the rain intensity over the 35 GHz radar was > 3 mm hr⁻¹. The relation between cloud top heights measured by the two radars on this occasion is shown in Fig. 7.3. In the majority of cases the cloud top height indicated by the 35 GHz radar was lower (at times over 1000 m lower) than that measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. This was no doubt due to greater attenuation by precipitation at 35 GHz than at 5.5 GHz. (See Section 9 for further discussion of the effects of attenuation on cloud heights determined by the 35 GHz radar.)

Too few cloud base measurements from the two radars were available during this period to permit a meaningful comparison.

7.2. Comparisons of Cloud Top and Cloud Base Heights From the 1982 Data Sets

In 1982 the University of Washington 35 GHz and NCAR 5.5 GHz radars were located alongside each other at Pt. Brown on the Washington Coast. Cloud height measurements from the 5.5 GHz radar were obtained from the



Figure 7.1. Comparison of cloud top heights measured during February 1979 by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar. The 35 GHz radar was located at Moclips. on the Washington Coast, and the 5.5 GHz radar was located 30 km south of Moclips at Pt. Brown. The data points include both convective and stratiform clouds.



Figure 7.2. As for Fig. 7.1 but for stratiform clouds only.



Figure 7.3. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and the</u> NCAR 5.5 GHz radar for 24 February 1979 when there was relatively heavy precipitation at the 35 GHz radar site. The 35 GHz radar was located at Moclips, on the Washington Coast, and the 5.5 GHz radar was located 30 km south of Moclips at Pt. Brown.

highest elevation angle PPI scans, and these were compared to cloud heights overhead measured with the verticallypointing 35 GHz radar. The comparisons were restricted to widespread stratiform clouds. During this period there were 151 comparable pairs of cloud top heights measurements from the two radars. The relationship between the measurements is shown in Fig. 7.4. The overall correlation coefficient is 0.97. The mean difference between cloud top heights measured by the two radars was about \pm 290 m and the standard deviation of the mean difference ~ 280 m. Note that the difference between the two measurements generally increases with increasing cloud top height.

The comparison for cloud base heights measured by the two radars is shown in Fig. 7.5. In this case there are thirty pairs of comparable data points; the number of points is smaller than for cloud top height measurements because in some cases precipitation extending to the ground made it impossible to measure the cloud base height. The correlation coefficient between the measurements of cloud base heights from the two radars is 0.99, with a mean difference of about \pm 230 m.

From 24 - 26 January 1982, non-precipitating cloud layers were present over Pt. Brown for a considerable period of time. The 35 GHz radar was operating at its highest sensitivity with no additional electronic attenuation (since there was no precipitation present to saturate the receiver). Figure 7.6 compares the cloud top and cloud base heights measured by the two radars during this period. The correlation between the cloud base height measurements is reasonable good (r = 0.79), but the cloud top heights indicated by the 35 GHz radar are consistently higher than those indicated by the 5.5 GHz radar. Shown in Figs. 7.7(a) and 7.8(a) are color displays from the vertically-pointing 35 GHz radar. The bases are strongly defined but the tops less so. If the weaker echoes are removed (to simulate a decrease in radar sensitivity), the apparent cloud top height decreases considerably, as shown in Figs. 7.7(b) and 7.8(b), but there is almost no change in the cloud base height [compare Fig. 7.7(a) with Fig. 7.8(a)]. This simulation shows that the particle sizes and/or particle concentration at cloud top were sufficiently small that the full sensitivity of the 34 GHz radar was needed to detect the cloud top. It appears, therefore, that the primary reason why the cloud top heights deduced by the 5.5 GHz radar were lower than those detected by the 35 GHz radar was the lower sensitivity of the other sensitivity of the small and/or low concentrations of cloud particles at cloud top.

On several occasions simultaneous measurements of cloud top heights were obtained from the two radars when precipitation rates at the ground were moderately high (> 3 mm hr⁻¹). The relation between the cloud top height measurements on these occasions is shown on Fig. 7.9. In most cases the 5.5 GHz radar indicates a persistently higher cloud top height. We attribute this to attenuation of the 35 GHz signal by moderate rain.

Multiple cloud layers were present on several occasions in the 1982 field program. When the two radars were operating side by side (8, 10, 11 and 12 February) the 35 GHz radar often showed echoes from the lowest cloud layer reaching the ground, although no precipitation was recorded at the ground. Comparisons of cloud top and cloud base heights are shown in Figs. 7.10 and 7.11, respectively. The base heights measurements are primarily for upper cloud layers, since, although no precipitation was recorded at the ground, the 35 GHz radar often showed echoes from the lower layer reaching the ground. Both cloud top and cloud base heights measured by the two radars are in good



Figure 7.4. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights for stratiform clouds measured by the University of Washington's 35</u> <u>GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the</u> <u>Washington Coast. from January - February 1982.</u>



Figure 7.5. <u>Comparison of cloud base heights for stratiform clouds measured by the University of Washington's 35</u> <u>GHz radar with cloud base heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the</u> <u>Washington Coast. from January - February 1982.</u>



Figure 7.6. Comparison of cloud base heights and cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights and cloud top heights measured by the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, in January 1982. Only data points for non-precipitating cloud layers are plotted. The 35 GHz radar was operating at maximum sensitivity.





. 19.







Figure 7.9. Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud top heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, during January - February 1982. The precipitation intensity at the ground was $> 3 \text{ mm hr}^{-1}$. The point on the 1 : 1 line was for a marginal rain intensity of 3 mm hr⁻¹.

-41



Figure 7.10. Comparison of cloud top heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with clour top heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. Both radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, during January - February 1982. Data are for cases when multiple cloud layers were present and the echo indicated from the 35 GHz radar reached the ground but there was no recorded precipitation at the ground.



Figure 7.11. Comparison of cloud base heights measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured by the 5.5 GHz radar. The radars were located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington Coast, from January to February 1982. Data points are for cases when multiple cloud layers were present and the echo from the 35 GHz radar reached the ground level, but there was no recorded precipitation at the ground.

agreement (r = 0.98). The mean difference in the top height measurements is \pm 180 m with a standard deviation in the mean difference of 150 m; the mean difference in the base heights is \pm 250 m with a standard deviation of 250 m.

7.3. Summary

Table 7.1 summarizes the results described in this section on cloud base and cloud top heights measured simultaneously by the 35 and 5.5 GHz radars.

It can be seen from Table 7.1 that if we consider all of the measurements there is very good agreement between the two radars, with a mean difference in height of \pm 100 to \pm 300 m. However, the 35 GHz radar suffers from considerable attenuation in moderate to heavy precipitation, which can produce underestimates in the heights of the clouds. Cloud top heights are determined most accurately by the 35 GHz radar when there is either no precipitation or very light precipitation and the radar is operated at its full sensitivity. Under these conditions, the 35 GHz radar can determine cloud top heights more accurately than the 5.5 GHz radar.

Period and Location	Data Comparison 1	Number of pairs of lata points	Correlation coefficient between the two data sets	Mean difference in heights between the two data sets (meters)	Standard deviation of mean difference in heights (meters)
1979 Moclips - Pt. Brown, WA	Total data set on cloud top heights for all cloud types.	102	0.97	± 270	230
1979 Moclips - Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud top heights, excluding convective cases.	79	0.99	± 192	190
1982 Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud top heights, mostly widespread, stratiform clouds.	151	0.97	± 290	280
1982 Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud base heights, mostly widespread, stratiform clouds.	, 30	0.99	± 90	230
1982 Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud top heights, multiple layers.	19	0.98	± 180	152
1982 Pt. Brown, WA	Cloud base heights, multiple cloud laye: (excluding lowest la for which echo reach the ground).	, 11 rs ayer hed	0.95	± 240	240

TABLE 7.1 Summary of Comparisons of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights Measured by the University ofWashington's 35 GHz Radar and the NCAR 5.5 GHz Radar. Comparisons Confined Primarily to Non-precipitating
or Light-precipitating Clouds.

SECTION 8. COMPARISONS OF CLOUD BASE AND CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS MEASURED WITH THE 35 GHz RADAR AND FROM AIRCRAFT

Measurements from aircraft of cloud top and cloud base heights while flying over, or in the general vicinity, of the U of W 35 GHz radar provide the best way of evaluating the accuracy with which this radar can measure cloud heights under various conditions.. Consequently, in this study we have utilized as much data of this type as possible. However, since field measurements did not form a part of the present study, we have had to resort to using data from previous field projects in which no specific attempt was made to fly an aircraft over the 35 GHz radar, although, as ¹ ':appened, in many instances aircraft did fly over or near the 35 GHz radar. In this Section, the results obtained from analyzing data from five such field projects are described.

8.1. Observations

During November - December 1979 the 35 GHz radar was located at Grayland on the Pacific Coast of Washington State. The U of W B-23 research aircraft often flew over the radar in this project, thus fifty-five pairs of simultaneous measurements are available for comparison of cloud top heights observed by the 35 GHz radar and the aircraft. In addition, fourteen pairs of measurements are available on cloud base heights. On most of the occasions when pairs of measurement were available there was either no precipitation or light precipitation at the ground at the radar site.

Cloud top heights measured from the aircraft and those indicated by the 35 GHz radar are shown in Fig. 8.1. The correlation coefficient between the two sets of measurements is 0.97, with a mean difference between the heights $f \pm 120$ m and a standard deviation of the mean difference of 75 m. Figure 8.2 shows the comparison for cloud base heights. The correlation coefficient is 0.99, with a mean difference between the two heights of ± 120 m and a standard deviation of the mean difference between the two heights of ± 120 m and a standard deviation of the mean difference of 110 m. At times there were periods of heavy rain over the region, but the aircraft was never at or near cloud top or base on these occasions. One such day was 1 December 1979 (when the mean precipitation rate was $3 - 8 \text{ mm hr}^{-1}$) and the aircraft flew over the radar several times. The aircraft was in deep cloud with no sign of cloud top. However, the 35 GHz radar indicated that cloud top was very close to the aircraft flight level (during this period a manual attenuation of 15 to 20 dB was imposed on the radar receiver to avoid saturation of the amplifier). Again, this shows that heavy precipitation can strongly attenuate radar echoes at 35 GHz. This situation, although not useful for any quantitative comparisons, is depicted in Fig. 8.3.

During February 1980 the 35 GHz radar was located at Grayland on the Washington Coast. Three supporting aircraft were available: the U of W B-23, a leased Navajo aircraft, and a C-130 aircraft from the U.S. Air Force. The aircraft flew over the 35 GHz radar 160 times (37 times on 14 February and 123 times during the rest of February). The data sets include a wide range of conditions, from no precipitation to light and moderate precipitation, and one



Figure 8.1. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> top heights measured from the aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, from November to December 1979. The data cover a variety of cloud conditions, including light (but not heavy) precipitation.



Figure 8.2. <u>Comparison of cloud base heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> base heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, from November to December 1979. The data cover a variety of cloud conditions.



Figure 8.3. Radar echo top heights from the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar plotted against aircraft flying level over the radar. There was deep cloud above the aircraft in all cases. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, on 1 December 1979. There was heavy precipitation at the ground. Means and maxima rainfall intensities ranged from $3.5 - 8.1 \text{ mm hr}^{-1}$ and $3.5 - 16.2 \text{ mm hr}^{-1}$, respectively.

day with light intermittent snow (14 February). Excluding data from 14 February, which will be described separately, forty-two pairs of simultaneous observations of cloud top heights from the radar and from an aircraft are available. Most of the measurements are for small cumulus, about 1500 m deep, with cloud tops over 7000 m, and moderate deep stratocumulus, altocumulus and altostratus. The results are shown in Fig. 8.4. The correlation coefficient between the two data sets is 0.99. The mean difference in the cloud top height measurements by the aircraft and the radar is about \pm 90 m with a standard deviation of 90 m. Figure 8.5 shows those data points obtained in deeper clouds and/or moderate precipitation. The correlation coefficient is still 0.99, but the mean difference is about \pm 120 m and the standard deviation 120 m.

On 14 February there was light intermittent snow showers at ground level from low-level cumulus, stratocumulus and altocumulus and altostratus. The maximum heights of the clouds during the day was about 5 km. For this day we have about twenty pairs of simultaneous measurements of cloud top heights from the aircraft and the 35 GHz radar. For most of these measurements there was either no precipitation or light to moderate precipitation (< 3 mm hr⁻¹) at ground level. The results are shown in Fig. 8.6. The correlation coefficient between the two sets of measurements is 0.99 with a mean difference of \pm 100 m and a standard deviation of ~ 60 m.

Figure 8.7 compares thirteen pairs of observations of cloud base heights measured by the aircraft and the 35 GHz radar in February 1980. The correlation coefficient is 0.99 and the mean difference between the two sets of observations is \pm 100 m and the standard deviation 180 m.

During December - January 1980 - 1981 the 35 GHz radar was located in Seattle, with support from the \cup of W B-23 aircraft. The aircraft flew over the radar 191 times, but cloud top measurements from the aircraft were available on only fifteen of these occasions. The relation between the measurements of cloud top height from the aircraft and from the 35 GHz radar is shown in Fig. 8.8. The correlation coefficient between the two sets of measurements is 0.99, with a mean difference of \pm 90 m and a standard deviation of the mean difference of \sim 120 m.

The corresponding comparisons for cloud base heights are shown in Fig. 8.9. The correlation coefficient between the two sets of measurements is 0.59 with a mean difference of about ± 90 m and a standard deviation of ~ 150 m. Again, the mean difference is very close to the resolution limit of the radar (75 m).

From January - February 1982 the 35 GHz radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Pacific Coast of Washington State, with support from several aircraft, radiosondes and the NCAR 5.5 GHz radar. However, only the U of W B-23 aircraft flew in the vicinity of the 35 GHz radar, and on only one occasion (20 January) was cloud top height measured from the aircraft. On this occasion, the clouds were isolated cumulus. The radar indicated that cloud tops were at 2400 m and the aircraft measured 2600 m.

On another occasion (10 February) the aircraft passed over the radar in a thin wispy altocumulus layer (at about 4300 m), which contained only water particles, with another cloud layer below that was precipitating. The lower cloud layer (around 3000 m) was clearly detected by the 35 GHz radar but the upper altocumulus layer was not detected by the radar. However, shortly after, when ice particles appeared along with the water in the altocumulus (a: indicated by PMS probes on the aircraft), the altocumulus layer was detected by the 35 GHz radar with an echo top



Figure 8.4. <u>Comparison of cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, during February 1980 (excluding observations from 14 February 1980).



Figure 8.5. As for Fig. 8.4 but for selected periods with deep cloud and/or moderate precipitation.



Figure 8.6. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, on 14 February 1980. There was light intermittent snow at the ground.



Figure 8.7. <u>Comparison of cloud base heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud base heights measured from aircraft</u>. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington Coast, during February 1980.



Figure 8.8. <u>Comparisons of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cloud</u> top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located in Seattle, Washington, from December 1980 to January 1981.



Figure 8.9. <u>Comparison of cloud base heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with cle</u> base heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located in Seattle, Washington, from December 1980 to Janua 1981.
height of 4300 - 4500 n. (A similar response by the 35 GHz radar was seen on 5 December 1979 when the aircraft flew in a scattered layer of cloud 150 - 250 m deep composed of supercooled drops. This cloud layer was situated above a lower layer of cloud, around 1000 m thick, and precipitation was occasionally reaching the ground. Although the lower cloud layer was detected by the 35 GHz radar, the upper cloud layer was barely detected. However, when the upper layer was converted into ice by seeding with dry ice, the 35 GHz radar detected the upper layer.)

During January - March 1986 the 35 GHz radar was located on the Atlantic Coast at Cape Hatteras, North Carolina, while participating in GALE. Several aircraft took part in GALE (see Table 1.1 in Section 1), but the emphasis was to fly in mesoscale features of interest and no specific attempt was made to fly over the 35 GHz radar. However, at times the aircraft flew close to this radar.

Figures 8.10 and 8.11 compare the cloud top and cloud base heights indicated by the 35 GHz radar and measured from aircraft. The data points are too few to arrive at any definite conclusions. However, the correlation coefficient between the two sets of measurements of cloud top heights is 0.98 with a mean difference of about \pm 500 m and \sim 250 m standard deviation, where the 35 GHz radar heights were generally greater than those estimated from the aircraft. The difference between the two data points for base height was about 230 m, with again the radar indicating the greater height.

8.2. Summary

A summary of the results presented in this section on cloud top and cloud base heights determined from aircraft and from the U of W 35 GHz radar is given in Table 8.1. It can be seen that both the cloud top and cloud base heights indicated by the 35 GHz radar agree very well with those measured from the aircraft. However, the majority of the measurements were obtained in non-precipitating or light-precipitating clouds. Under these conditions, the mean difference between the heights of clouds measured by the radar and from the aircraft was about \pm 100 m, which is close to the theoretical resolution of the radar (75 m).



Figure 8.10. <u>Comparison of cloud top heights indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar with clou-</u> top heights measured from aircraft. The radar was located at Cape Hatteras. North Carolina, from January - March, 1986.



Figure 8.11. As for Fig. 8.10 but for cloud base heights.

Year and Location	Data comparison	Number of pairs of data points	Correlation coefficient between the two data sets	Mean difference in heights between the two data sets (meters)	Standard deviation of mean difference in heights (meters)
1979 Grayland, Wa	Cloud top heights.	55	0.97	± 120	75
1979 Grayland, Wa	Cloud base heights.	14	0.99	± 120	110
1980 Grayland, Wa	Cloud top heights, excluding 14 February 1980.	42	0.99	± 90	90
1980 Grayland, Wa	Cloud top heights for 14 February 1980.	20	0.99	± 90	60
1980 Grayland, Wa	Cloud base heights (all data).	13	0.99	± 90	180
1980 Grayland, Wa	Cloud top heights (deep cloud and/or moderate precipitation).	10	0.99	± 120	120
1980 - 1981 Seattle, Wa	Cloud top heights.	15	0.99	± 90	150
1986 Cape Hatteras, NC	Cloud top heights comparison.	5	0.98	± 500	250
1986 Cape Hatteras, NC	Cloud top heights comparison.	2		± 230	

TABLE 8.1 Summary of Comparisons of Cloud Base and Cloud Top Heights Measured by the University of Washington's 35 GHz Radar and Aircraft in GALE. Comparisons Confined to Non-precipitating or Light-precipitating Clouds.

SECTION 9. EFFECTS OF PRECIPITATION ON CLOUD TOP HEIGHTS INDICATED BY THE 35 GHz RADAR

For most of the data sets described in this report, simultaneous measurements are available from a highresolution raingauge located at the radar site. In this section, we use these measurements to carry out a preliminary study of the effects of rainfall intensity on the detection of cloud heights with the U of W 35 GHz radar. To reduce uncertainties, we will confine our attention to widespread layer clouds. We have investigated six such situations when medium to high-level uniform clouds passed over the radar, producing moderate to heavy precipitation at the radar site.

One such day was 1 December 1979 when the 35 GHz radar was located at Grayland on the Washington Coast. Very uniform cloud passed over radar and it produced steady moderate to heavy precipitation $(3 - 8 \text{ mm hr}^{-1})$. The aircraft flew over the radar several times, but it was in deep cloud and cloud tops could not be discerned, even though the 35 GHz radar indicated that cloud top was below, or within a very short distance, of the aircraft.

Figure 9.1 shows a histogram of echo top heights from the 35 GHz radar, the dominant rainfall rate, and the range of rainfall intensities during each 5 minute interval. It can be seen that the radar echo top was lower during the periods of heavy precipitation from 1610 to 2000 PST, when the rainfall rate was \geq 3 mm hr⁻¹ and at times > 16 mm hr⁻¹. However, there is no clear relationship between rain intensity and echo top height outside of this period. (There was 15 to 20 dB overall attenuation imposed on the radar receiver to avoid saturation.)

On 26 February 1980, when the radar was also at Grayland, there was a similar long period of uniform stratiform cloud that produced periods of moderate to moderately heavy rainfall. Rainfall rates and echo top heights are shown in Fig. 9.2. The results indicate a qualitative inverse relationship between rainfall rate and the radardetected echo top height. This relationship is particularly noticeable whenever the rainfall rate exceeds 3 mm hr⁻¹ (15 dB manual attenuation was imposed on the radar receiver to avoid saturation of the receiver amplifier).

On 16 and 22 January 1982, when the radar was located at Pt. Brown on the Washington Coast, there was also widespread uniform cloud over the radar with almost no convective activity. Rainfall rates were light to moderate (lighter than on 26 February 1980). Figures 9.3 and 9.4 show data from these two days. For rainfall rates up to at least 3 mm hr⁻¹ there was generally no noticeable effect of rainfall rate on the cloud top height detected by the 35 GHz radar, even with the relatively deep clouds that were present on 16 January 1982. However, during the earlier part of 22 January 1982, when the rainfall rate was just above 3 mm hr⁻¹, there is an indication of an inverse relationship between the radar-indicated cloud top height and rainfall rate.

Similar observations were made in uniform cloud with virtually no convective activity on 12 and 13 February 1982 when there was light to moderate rain at the radar site for a considerable period of time (Figs. 9.5 and 9.6). On both days the clouds were deep but the precipitation intensity was not very high. There was some sign of an inverse relationship between cloud top echo height and rainfall intensity when the latter was of light to moderate intensity, and particularly when the intensity was $\gtrsim 3 \text{ mm hr}^{-1}$.



Figure 9.1. <u>Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at the Coast.</u>

-



site on 1 Decemberadar site on 1 December 1979. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington



Figure 9.2. <u>Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at</u> Coast.



the radar site on 26 February 1980. The radar was located at Grayland, on the Washington

٠ţ



DOMINANT RAINFALL RATE AT

Figure 9.3. <u>Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar, and rainfall rate at</u>. <u>Coast.</u>



NGE immine and RANGE immine?) IN EACH 5 MIN. INTERVAL

ir site on 16 Januar the radar site on 16 January 1982. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington



DOMINANT RAINFALL RATE AND RANGE

Figure 9.4. Variations in cloud top height indicated by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainfall rate at ra

416

500 1700 1600 Į - ECHO TCP HEIGHT -RAMEALL RATE

1 = 4 WEART RABIT ALL RATE (number ⁴) 1.0080BAG FACALS AND BITE RVAL.

- C

-9

-6

-4

- 2

NEACH 3 MINU DITERVAL

T 1. E

(c) # [1] [gralary <u>2955</u>] [The safer was located at [9] [Britspin Fifth Washington Class.



DOMINANT RAINFALL RATE

Figure 9.5. Variations in cloud top height indicat d by the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar and rainf: Coast.





BANGE (mm hr1) IN [ANGE (mm hr1) IN EACH 5 MIN. INTERVAL

at the radar site on 12 top the radar site on 12 February 1982. The radar was located at Pt. Brown, on the Washington

-71





Freure 9.6 Variations in sloud top height indicated by the 35 GHz radar and rannfall rate at the radar site on 13 February 1982. The radar was located

at Pt. Drown_on the Washington Coast.

These preliminary observations indicate that attenuation begins to degrade the ability of the 35 GHz radar to detect cloud top heights accurately when the precipitation rate exceeds about 3 mm hr⁻¹.

SECTION 10. SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF EVALUATION OF THE 35 GHz RADAR FOR MEASURING CLOUD HEIGHTS

In this report we have used data from radiosondes, a 5.5 GHz radar, and aircraft observations to investigate the accuracy with which the University of Washington's 35 GHz radar can be used to determine cloud top and cloud base heights in various meteorological situations. Although the data used in this evaluation were not collected for the specific purpose of evaluating the 35 GHz radar, they have provided valuable information that is summarized below. It should be noted that the aircraft measurements of cloud heights provide the most reliable means for evaluating the accuracy of the 35 GHz radar, and comparisons with radiosonde data are probably the least reliable.

10.1. Comparison with Radiosondes

Estimates from radiosonde soundings of cloud base and cloud top heights for widespread, stratiform clouds show good overall correlations with the heights indicated by the 35 GHz radar (see Section 6 for details). For cloud top heights they agree to within ~ 400 \pm 300 m and for cloud base heights to within ~ 120 \pm 90 m.

For convective clouds, the differences in heights were greater, sometimes > 700 m. This is attributable in par to the large natural fluctuations in the heights of convective clouds, which make it difficult to reliably compare two data sets.

10.2. Comparisons with 5.5 GHz Radar

Cloud base and cloud top heights deduced from the 35 GHz radar and a 5.5 GHz radar were generally in good agreement, provided that any precipitation was no more than very light. In the case of primarily stratiform clouds, the mean difference in the cloud top heights detected by the two radars was ≤ 290 m, and for cloud base heights it was ≤ 240 m. For diffuse, thin cloud tops, containing mainly ice particles, the 35 GHz radar was more accurate than the 5.5 GHz radar in detecting cloud top heights. For cloud bases the heights indicated by the 35 GHz radar were generally similar to those indicated by the 5.5 GHz radar. In the presence of rain rates ≥ 3 mm hr⁻¹, the performance of the 35 GHz radar suffered because of attenuation by the rain.

10.3. Comparisons with Airborne Observations

When there was no precipitation, or when the precipitation was very light, the heights of cloud bases and clo tops detected by the 35 GHz radar were within ~ 100 m of direct measurements of these heights made from aircraft flying over or in the vicinity of the radar. Hobbs <u>et al.</u> (1985) showed that the 35 GHz radar can detect clouds in which the diameters of the drops do not exceed ~ 27 μ m provided there are sufficient concentrations of 10 - 15 μ m diameter drops; they noted that clouds containing only 1 L^{-1} of 100 μ m diameter in crystals are also detectable b such a radar.

Little comparable data was available for heavy precipitating clouds, but the indications are than under these conditions attenuation by rain will cause a 35 GHz radar to underestimate cloud heights. Also, in the presence o light to heavy rain, cloud bases can not be readily detected by a 35 GHz radar.

SECTION 11. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In this report we have described a retrospective analysis of data (collected for other purposes) to assess the extent to which the University of Washington 35 GHz radar can be used to measure cloud base and cloud top heights. This analysis indicates that under certain weather conditions this radar may serve well for measuring cloud heights, but that under other conditions it may underestimate cloud top heights and may not be suitable for measuring cloud base heights.

To quantify more precisely the accuracy of a 35 GHz radar for determining cloud heights, we recommend that a field program be carried out that is dedicated to this task. The basic requirements for such a program are flights by ar aircraft, well instrumented for cloud physics research, over a ground-based 35 GHz radar in a wide variety of cloud and precipitating conditions. Such a study would be considerably strengthened if, in addition to the radar on the ground, the research aircraft itself carried a 35 GHz radar. By carrying out such a study in a region of the country where many different types of clouds are common, it should be possible to answer rather quickly most of the remaining questions concerning the suitability of a 35 GHz radar for measuring cloud heights.

Finally, it should be noted that although the University of Washington 35 GHz radar is a modernized version of the Air Force's AN/TPQ-11 radar, it has not been optimized for cloud height measurements. Also, although we have alluded to the potential for doppler data from such a radar to aid in the measurements of cloud heights, this possibility remains to be explored in a systematic way.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Paulsen, W. H., Petrocchi, P. J., and Medkan, G., <u>Operational Utilization of the AN/TPO-11, Cloud</u> <u>Detection Radar</u>, Instrumentation Paper No. 166, U. S. Air Force, Cambridge Research Laboratories. Bedford, MA, June 1970. AFCRL-70--335 AD709364.
- Marshall, R. S., "Precipitation Trajectories and Patterns." Journal of Meteorology, Vol. 10, No. 6, pp. 2: 29, February 1953.
- Plank, V. G., Atlas, D., and Paulson, W. H., "The Nature and Detectability of Clouds and Precipitation as Determined by 1.25 Centimeter Radar." <u>Journal of Meteorology</u>, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 358-377, Aug 1955.
- Boucher, R. J., "Synoptic Physical Implications of 1.25 cm Vertical-beam Radar Echoes." Journal of Meteorology, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 312-326, June 1959.
- Wexler, R., and Atlas, D., "Precipitation Generating Cells." Journal of Meteorology, Vol. 16, pp. 327-3. June 1959.
- Harper, W. G., "Cloud Detection with 8.6 Millimetre Wavelength Radar." <u>Meteorological Magazine</u>, Vol 93, No. 1108, pp. 337-346, November 1964.
- Harper, W. G., "Examples of Cloud Detection with 8.66 Millimetre Radar." <u>Meteorological Magazine</u>, V 95, No. 1125, pp. 106-112, April 1966.
- Stewart, J. B., "Further Discussion on the Observation of Cloud With 8.6 Millimetre Radar." <u>Meteorolo</u> <u>Magazine</u>, Vol. 95, No. 1125, pp. 112-114, April 1966.
- Petrocchi, P. J., and Paulsen, W. H., "Meteorological Significance of Vertical Density Profiles of Clouds Precipitation Obtained with the AN/TPQ-11 Radar." <u>Preprint Volume of the 12th A.M.S. Conferen</u> on Radar Meteorology, Norman, OK, October 1966.
- Weiss, R. R. Sr., Locatelli, J. D., and Hobbs, P. V., "Simultaneous Observations of Cloud and Precipit Particles with Vertically Pointing X-band and Ka-band Radars," <u>IEEE Transactions on Geoscience</u> <u>Electronics</u>, Vol. GE-17, No. 4, pp. 151-153, October 1979.

- Hobbs, P. V., Lyons, J. H., Locatelli, J. D., Biswas, K. R., Radke, L. F., Weiss, R. R. Sr., and Rangno, A. L., "Radar Detection of Cloud Seeding Effects." <u>Science</u>, Vol. 213, pp. 1250-1252, 11 September 1981.
- Hobbs, P. V., Funk, N. T., Weiss, R. R. Sr., Locatelli, J. D., and Biswas, K. R., "Evaluation of a 35 GHz Radar for Cloud Physics Research." Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 35-48, March 1985.
- Super, A. B., Holroyd, E. W. III, Boe, B. A., and McPartland, J. T., <u>Colorado River Augmentation</u> <u>Demonstration Program</u>, Technical Report, January 1983 - March 1985, Division of Atmospheric Research, U.S. Dept. of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, Denver, CO, May 1986.
- Hill, G. E., <u>Evaluation of the Utah Operational Weather Modification Program</u>, Final Report for Contract NOAA/ NA 81-RAC-00023, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, U. S. Dept. Commerce, Utah State University, Logan, UT, April 1982.
- Hill, G. E., and Balamos, E. J., <u>Comparison of Cloud Top Temperatures</u>, <u>Estimated From TPQ-11 Ka-band</u> <u>Radar, Radiosonde and Aircraft Data</u>, Paper presented at A.M.S. National Conference on Cloud Physics, Chicago, IL, November 1982.
- Pasqualucci, F., Bertram, B. W., Kropfli, R. A., and Moninger, W. R., "A Millimeter Wavelength Dual Polarization Doppler Radar." *Journal of Climate and Applied Meteorology*, Vol. 22, No. 5, pp. 758-765 May 1983.
- Sauvageot, H., <u>Small Scale Structure of Layered Clouds During PEP (1981) Deduced From Millimetre Wave</u> Doppler Radar Analysis, Report No. 82-01, Institut et Observatoire de Physique du Globe di Puy de Dome, Puy de Dome, France, 1982.
- Weiss, R. R. Sr., Hobbs, P. V., and Locatelli, J. D., "Phase Correlator Reduces mm-Wave Radar Cost," <u>Microwaves & RF</u>, Vol. 25, pp. 125-127, March 1986.
- Hobbs, P. V., and Funk, N. T., "Cloud and Precipitation Studies with a Millimetre Wave Radar: A Pictorial Overview" <u>Weather</u>. Vol. 39, No. 11, pp. 334-339, November 1984.
- Battan, L. J., <u>Radar Observations of the Atmosphere</u>, University of Chicago Press. Chicago, IL, 1973.

 Smith, Paul L., "On the Sensitivity of Weather Radars." Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology, Vol. 3, No. 4, pp. 704-713, December 1986.





÷.